THE EFFECTS OF CANNABIS SATIVA EXTRACTS ON HUMAN MACROPHAGES IN VITRO

MARIIA ZAIACHUK

Medical Doctor, General Medicine, Ivano-Frankivsk National Medical University, 2013

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

Department of Biological Sciences University of Lethbridge LETHBRIDGE, ALBERTA, CANADA

© Mariia Zaiachuk, 2021

THE EFFECTS OF CANNABIS SATIVA EXTRACTS ON HUMAN MACROPHAGES $\ensuremath{\textit{IN VITRO}}$

Mariia Zaiachuk

Date of Defence: July 21, 2021

Dr. I. Kovalchuk	Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. O. Kovalchuk Thesis Co-supervisors	Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. A. Zovoilis Thesis Examination Committee Member	Associate Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. F. R. Jirik Thesis Examination Committee Member University of Calgary Calgary, Alberta	Professor	Ph.D.
Dr. R. Golsteyn Chair	Associate Professor	Ph.D.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to all people that supported me with love.

ABSTRACT

Inflammation is the immune system's response to an injury due to any agent. Currently, there is a wide array of anti-inflammatory agents available; however, they cause numerous side effects which compromise patients' quality of life. Therefore, new anti-inflammatory agents and strategies are required. Multiple research articles have demonstrated the strong potential of *Cannabis sativa* extracts and their active ingredients, including cannabinoids and terpenes, to be used in the treatment of inflammatory disorders. The current study explores the immunomodulatory potential of cannabis extracts *in vitro*. We investigated how the extracts of selected novel cannabis cultivars influence the secretion of cytokines in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced macrophages. We discovered that studied cannabis extracts significantly reduced the levels of cytokines, such as IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8, MCP-1, and IL-10, while not being cytotoxic to macrophages. This study may serve as a roadmap for the future analysis of the anti-inflammatory effects of medical cannabis *in vivo*.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Igor Kovalchuk and Dr. Olga Kovalchuk, for providing this remarkable opportunity, for the formation of a scientific idea, persistent help, guidance and motivation.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to my committee members, Dr. Athanasios Zovoilis and Dr. Frank R. Jirik, for providing insightful information to guide me in the right direction, their support, and valuable comments.

I would like to take time to thank my mentor, Dr. Santosh Suryavanshi, for all the time he has invested in my success, sharing his experience, and the guidance provided from day one in each step of the research.

I am greatly thankful to all current lab members for professional scientific cooperation. It was a deep pleasure to work and study together with such a highly intelligent and knowledgeable team.

I acknowledge the generous help of Dr. Roy Golsteyn for allowing me to use some equipment in his lab.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SIGNATURE PAGE	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ABSTRACT	.iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	.vi
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	'iii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	.ix
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Immunity	1
1.2 Cannabis plant and the Endocannabinoid system	4
1.3 Inflammation and its role in various disorders	5
1.4 Cannabis and inflammation	10
1.5 Human Macrophages- An in vitro model of inflammation	14
2. RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS	16
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
3.1 Main reagents	17
3.2 Plant growth and extract preparation	17
3.3 High performance liquid chromatography	18
3.4 Terpene analysis	18
3.5 Cell cultures and treatments	19
3.6 Cell viability assay using trypan blue	21
3.7 Immunoblotting	21
3.8 Multiplex ELISA	22
3.9 Statistical Analysis	24
4. RESULTS	25
4.1 Analysis of cannabinoids content using HPLC	25
4.2 Analysis of terpenes	26
4.3 Pilot experiment for establishing the appropriate duration of LPS stimulation and	
finding the appropriate samples for Multiplex ELISA	29
4.4 Selected concentrations of <i>Cannabis sativa</i> extracts do not reduce the viability of	
macrophages	31
4.5 Cannabis sativa extracts attenuate TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-8, MCP-1, IL-10, and IL-6	
production in LPS-stimulated THP-1 macrophages	35
4.6 High THC extracts were more efficient reducing studied cytokines production than	
high CBD extract in LPS-stimulated THP-1 macrophages	42
5. DISCUSSION	45
6. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE STUDIES	50
REFERENCES	53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The main effects of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines	3
Table 2. Summary of groups and number of samples used for Multiplex ELISA	23
Table 3. CBD and THC groups	24
Table 4. Levels and concentrations of single cannabinoids in extracts of selected C. sativa	
cultivars	25
Table 5. Composition of terpene concentrations in each extract	27
Table 6. Summary of the effects of extracts versus CBD/THC on studied cytokines	42

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Interaction between T lymphocytes and macrophages	2
Figure 2. Inflammatory pathways	7
Figure 3. The canonical NFkB signaling pathway in relation to TLR4/TNFR signaling	
pathway and possible sites for the anti-inflammatory activities of phyto- and	
endocannabinoids	8
Figure 4. The desired effects of cannabinoids on immune cells	13
Figure 5. Schematic representation of the experimental plan	20
Figure 6. Level of terpenes in extracts #131, #178 and #14	
Figure 7. Quantification of p-NFkB/ NFkB.	29
Figure 8. Comparison of the cytokines levels in cell culture supernatant (media) versus ce	ell
lysate supernatant.	30
Figure 9. The trypan blue cell viability assay	31
Figure 10. Analysis of cell viability using trypan blue assay in CBD group in THP-1	
macrophages	34
Figure 11. Analysis of cell viability using trypan blue assay in	
THC group in THP-1 macrophages	35
Figure 12. Analysis of IL-1β cytokine	36
Figure 13. Analysis of IL-6 cytokine	37
Figure 14. Analysis of IL-8 cytokine	38
Figure 15. Analysis of MCP-1 cytokine	39
Figure 16. Analysis of TNF-α cytokine	40
Figure 17. Analysis of IL-10 cytokine	41
Figure 18. Comparison of studied cytokines between the extracts	44

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2-AG: 2-arachidonoylglycerol AEA: anandamide ANOVA: one way analysis of variance APCs: antigen-presenting cells CB1 receptor: cannabinoid 1 receptor CB2 receptor: cannabinoid 2 receptor CBD: cannabidiol CD4+: T helper cells CD8+: cytotoxic T cells CLRs: C-type lectin receptors DAGL: diacylglycerol lipase DAMPs: danger-associated molecular patterns DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide anhydrous FAAH: Fatty acid amide hydrolase GPR119: G protein-coupled receptors 119 GPR18: G protein-coupled receptors 18 GPR55: G protein-coupled receptors 55 HDF13: Human Cytokine Array Proinflammatory Focused 13-plex HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography IFN-γ: interferon-gamma IL-1: interleukin 1 IL-10: interleukin 10 IL-12: interleukin 12 IL-13: interleukin 13 IL-2: interleukin 2 IL-4: interleukin 4 IL-5: interleukin 5 IL-6: interleukin 6 IL-8: interleukin 8 JAK: janus kinase LPS: lipopolysaccharide MAGL: monoacylglycerol lipase MAPK: mitogen-activated protein kinases MD2: myeloid differentiation factor 2 MDSCs: myeloid-derived suppressor cells MHC: major histocompatibility complex NAPE-PLD: NAPE-phospholipase D NF- κ B: nuclear factor kappa-B NK: natural killer cells NLRs: NOD-like receptors NOD: nucleotide-binding oligomerization domains NSAIDs: nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs PAMPs: pathogen-associated molecular patterns PBMCs: peripheral blood mononuclear cells

PI3K: phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

PRRs: pathogen recognition receptors

RLHs: RIG-like helicases

RPMI: Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium

STAT: signal transducer and activator of transcription

Th1: T helper 1 cells

Th2: T helper 2 cells

THC: tetrahydrocannabinol

TLRs: Toll-like receptors

TNF-α: tumor necrosis factor alpha

TRPV1: transient receptor potential channels of the vanilloid subtype 1

TRPV2: transient receptor potential cation channel 2

TRPV2: transient receptor potential channels of the vanilloid subtype 2

1. Introduction

1.1 Immunity

Immunity is the capability of an organism to resist harmful microorganisms. There are two types of immunity: innate or native and adaptive or acquired. The main players of native immunity are neutrophils, macrophages, mast cells, dendritic cells, natural killer (NK) cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and of adaptive immunity are immune cells such as T and B lymphocytes [1]. Inflammation is the major player in innate immunity. On the other hand, adaptive immunity can recognize several foreign substances in a specific way and is subdivided into humoral, mediated by B lymphocytes-produced antibodies and cellular, mediated by T lymphocytes. The successful immune response depends on the proper presentation of foreign material to T cells by antigen-presenting cells (APCs). The APCs, like macrophages and dendritic cells, display protein antigens to T cells and activate them. T cells can not recognize free antigens; instead, they recognize peptides displayed by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules on other cells. Class I MHC molecules are present on all nucleated cells and cytotoxic T cells (CD8⁺) respond to them, while Class II MHC molecules are expressed on APCs, and are recognized by T helper cells (CD4⁺) [2].

T helper 1 cells (Th1) secrete interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), which induces classical macrophage activation and enhances cell-mediated toxicity (Figure 1). T helper 2 cells (Th2) cells produce interleukin 4 (IL-4), interleukin 5 (IL-5), which stimulate the alternative macrophage activation, as well as the production of antibodies. Classical macrophage activation (M1) is caused by microbial particles and cytokines produced by T cells. They secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines: tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), interleukin 6 (IL-6), interleukin 12

(IL-12), interleukin 1 (IL-1), interleukin 2 (IL-2), interleukin 8 (IL-8) etc. These macrophages are actively microbicidal, participate in positive immune response and are able to stop the spread of cancer cells. Alternative macrophage (M2) activation is caused by IL-4, IL-5 and interleukin 13 (IL-13) produced by T cells. M2 secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines interleukin 10 (IL-10) and IL-4, have an immunosuppressive function, important in tissue repair and promote the growth and spread of cancer. Macrophages are considered one of the central cells that modulate the inflammatory responses via cytokine expression regulation. Interaction between T lymphocytes and macrophages is bidirectional (Figure 1). Macrophages present antigens to T cells, stimulate T cells, produce cytokines, and cause further stimulation of T lymphocytes. T cells make cytokines that cause macrophages activation, causing more cytokine production and antigen presentation [3],[4]. The released cytokines work in unison to achieve equilibrium where majority of them exhibit pro-inflammatory properties and few of them are anti-inflammatory in nature (Table 1).



Figure 1. Interaction between T lymphocytes and macrophages

Cytokines	Production site	Effects	Reference
ΤΝΓ-α	Macrophages, T lymphocytes, NK cells, mast cells, eosinophils	Inflammation stimulation, resistance to infection and cancers.	[5]
IL-1β	Macrophages	Key mediator of inflammatory response; important in inflammasome signaling.	[6]
IL-8	Macrophages, lymphocytes, mast cells	Induce chemotaxis of granulocytes to the site of infection; phagocytosis stimulation.	[7]
MCP-1 (monocyte chemoattractant protein-1)	Macrophages, dendritic cells	Induce chemotaxis of neutrophils, monocytes, T ceels and dendritic cells to the site of infection and stimulate phagocytosis.	[8]
IL-6	T cells, macrophages	Stimulation of cellular differentiation, inflammation and the development of effector T cells; induces synthesis of acute phase proteins.	[9]
IL-12	Dendritic cells, macrophages	Encourages the advancement of the Th-1 response, enhances the cytotoxic activity of NK cells and CD8+ T cells, has anti-angiogenic effects.	[10]
IL-2	T cells, dendritic cells	A signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT5), influences the differentiation of T helper cells, activates cytotoxic lymphocytes	[11]
IFN-γ	T helper cells (Th1), NK cells	Regulates the Th1/Th2 balance, promotes macrophage activation, enhances antigen presentation and leukocyte migration, activates STAT1.	[12]
Anti-inflammat	ory cytokines		
IL-10	Monocytes, lymphocytes, mast cells, macrophages, T helper cells (Th2).	Limiting a host immune response to pathogens, tissue homeostasis maintenance, the prevention of autoimmune conditions	[13]

Table 1. The main effects of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines

	regulatory T cells	development; decreases antigen presentation and phagocytosis, enhances T reg cells	
IL-4	Mast cells, eosinophils, basophils, T cells	Regulates the Th1/Th2 balance, induces an alternative macrophage activation and immunoglobulin class switch to IgE and IgG	[14]
IL-5	T helper cells (Th2), mast cells	Stimulates the proliferation of B cells and their differentiation to Ig-secreting cells.	[15]
TGF-β	White blood cells	Controls cell proliferation, differentiation, wound healing; inhibition of B cells and activates macrophages; promotes T cells differentiation.	[16]
IFN-α	Plasmacytoid dendritic cells, macrophages	Chemokinesis and migration induction of T cells, anti-viral activity.	[17]

1.2 Cannabis plant and Endocannabinoid system

C. sativa plant has been known for centuries as a controversial plant. For many years, cannabis has been used in many cultures as alternative medicine. It contains phytocannabinoids, terpenoids, flavonoids, fatty acids, and other molecules. Cannabinoid act through the endocannabinoid system which is composed of receptors like cannabinoid 1 (CB1), cannabinoid 2 (CB2), transient receptor potential channels of the vanilloid subtype 1 and 2 (TRPV1, TRPV2), G protein-coupled receptors 18, 55, 119 (GPR18, GPR55, GPR119), endocannabinoids such as 2-arachidonoylglycerol and anandamide (2-AG, AEA), and enzymes responsible for their metabolism. The main biosynthetic enzymes are NAPE-phospholipase D (NAPE-PLD) and diacylglycerol lipase (DAGL); the main degradation enzymes are fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) and monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL). The main function of the endocannabinoid system is to maintain homeostasis [18]. The most well-known phytocannabinoids produced by the *C. sativa* are Δ^9 -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD). The endocannabinoids,

as well as phytocannabinoids, have high specificity to cannabinoid receptors. When these cannabinoids bind to receptors, they activate them and cause the inhibition of neurotransmitter release and, consequently, can affect the human organism in different ways. Other components of the plants, including minor cannabinoids, terpenoids and flavonoids, may act synergistically with cannabinoids, and their effect might be more potent as compared to these singular compounds alone. This phenomenon is known as "entourage effect" [19]. The CB1 receptor is mainly expressed in the central nervous system, and the CB2 receptor, being the most prevalent in the immune system, is mostly present in peripheral organs. Both receptors are G-protein-coupled cell surface receptors that are coupled to the adenylyl cyclase and cAMP-protein kinase A pathways and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathways [20]. With respect to the expression of cannabinoid receptors in immune cells, it has been demonstrated that these receptors are expressed in both adaptive and innate immune cells. For instance, CB1, CB2, and GPR55 receptors are expressed in the natural killer cells; CB1, CB2 receptors are present in the mast cells, T lymphocytes, B cells and macrophages. Therefore, phytocannabinoids can potentially influence the function of the immune system and regulate the process of inflammation [21].

1.3 Inflammation and its role in chronic disorders

Inflammation is body's defensive mechanism which is vital to health. Inflammation is an important part of both arms of the immune system and is crucial in regulating tissue homeostasis. The innate immune response is the first safeguard protecting our cells from harmful microorganisms. Microorganisms have pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), while endogenous danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) are released from damaged cells and cause a non-infectious inflammatory response. Lipopolysaccharides, which are the components

of gram-negative bacterial cell wall, proteins and glycolipids expressed in bacteria are the examples of PAMPs. The PAMPs and DAMPs are recognized by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), expressed on immune cells like macrophages and dendritic cells and non-immune cells, like fibroblasts, and stimulate the initial immune response, by activating PRRs [22]. The recognition of DAMPs and PAMPs by PRRs leads to formation of danger-sensing complex, called inflammasome. The innate immune system has five types of PRRs: Toll-like receptors (TLRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domains (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), RIG-like helicases (RLHs), DNA sensors absent in melanoma 2 (AIM2) like receptors (ALRs) and DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors (DAI)).

The inflammatory response process can be summarized as follows: 1) recognition of dangerous stimuli by PRRs; 2) activation of inflammatory pathways; 3) release of inflammatory markers; 4) recruitment of inflammatory cells [23]. There are three main pathways (Figure 2, 3) that play a major role in inflammation: nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-κB), Janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), and MAPK pathways [24], [25], [26], [27].



Figure 2. Inflammatory pathways. A. NF κ B pathway. TLRs and pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α) activate this pathway, followed by activation of RelA/p50 complexes, which actively regulate the expression of inflammatory cytokines. B. JAK-STAT pathway. This pathway is activated by IL-6 binding; then the signal is transduced to activate JAKs, and then - STATs. When STATs are phosphorylated, it leads to downstream activation of inflammatory cytokines. C. MAPK pathway. Extracellular stimuli, such as stress and cytokines, activate this pathway. MAPKKKs phosphorylate and activate MAPKKs, which in turn activate MAPKs. The activated MAPKs phosphorylate different proteins, like transcription factors that regulate inflammatory responses.



Figure 3. The canonical NF κ B signaling pathway in relation to TLR4/TNFR signaling pathway and possible sites for the anti-inflammatory activities of phyto- and endocannabinoids. TLR4 and TNFR downstream signaling pathways lead to activation of expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. THC and CBD inhibit the important proteins of the TLR4 pathway, such as MyD88, TBK1, leading to downregulation of the NF κ B pathway [28]. 2-AG inhibits the IKK and RelA proteins involved in the NF κ B pathway [29].

Chronic inflammation plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of many chronic conditions. The central nervous system disorders, like Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis, and epilepsy develop in the presence of chronic inflammation in the brain. Blood-brain barrier permeability is increased to different molecules, and neuronal excitability is enhanced due to inflammatory responses in the brain [30]. Excessive epithelial micro-injuries followed by acute lung inflammation causes pulmonary fibrosis [31]. Chronic lung inflammation is commonly observed in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [32], cystic fibrosis [33], and asthma [34].

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death worldwide [35]. The mediators of inflammation play an important role in atherosclerosis development, which is the underlying pathology of cardiovascular disease [36]. Inflammatory bowel diseases, that include ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease is characterized by an abnormal and excessive inflammatory response to intestinal microbial flora [37]. Recently, type II diabetes mellitus has been characterized as an inflammatory disease due to altered cytokines levels, tissue fibrosis, and changes in leukocytes' population number and activation state [38]. Excessive inflammation in the liver might cause loss of hepatocytes, ischemia-reperfusion injury, and permanent liver damage. Patients have an increased risk of developing the chronic liver disease due to destroyed hepatic parenchymal cells as a result of inflammation. Infectious hepatic inflammation is most commonly caused by hepatitis B and C virus, while sterile inflammation can lead to alcoholic or nonalcoholic

steatohepatitis [39]. All these conditions significantly contribute to the increase of general morbidity and mortality worldwide, and inflammation is a crucial element in the pathological progression of these diseases.

1.4 Cannabis and inflammation

According to previous reports, cannabinoids can be used as anti-inflammatory agents due to their potent immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory properties [40], [41], [42], [43]. Currently, in medical practice, these substances have tolerable documented negative impact on patients in comparison with other commonly used anti-inflammatory drugs [44]. Therefore, herbal medicine, mainly cannabis derivatives, has gained a lot of attention due to its general efficacy and safety. Cannabinoids have other mechanisms of action on inflammation in comparison with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). NSAIDs inhibit the activity of cyclooxygenase enzymes, prostaglandins [45], while cannabinoids exert their anti-inflammatory activities mainly by reducing cytokine production, inducing apoptosis, inhibiting cell proliferation, and enhancing the function of T regulatory cells [43]. They influence the innate immune responses by suppressing the activity of NK cells, dendritic cells, migration of neutrophils and macrophages with their antigen presentation and phagocytosis processes [46], and by triggering the induction of MDSCs [47],[48]. The T cell immunity can be influenced by cannabinoids in different ways: they can affect the proliferation and the number of T cells by polarizing the cytokine response to either Th1 or Th2 (Figure 3) [49]. Cannabinoids have been shown to suppress the proliferation of T cells induce their apoptosis, and support the Th2 polarization [50], [51]. It has been shown that cannabinoids and cannabis extracts suppress the pro-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-2, IL-1 β , TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-12, IL-8, IL-6 and enhance the anti-inflammatory cytokines, like IL-10 in different cell lines and animal models [43]. CBD and THC have been the most studied phytocannabinoids as anti-inflammatory compounds, while CBD has gained more attention due to the lack of psychoactive side effects. CBD can activate the immune response by elevating *TNF*- α and *IL*-6 mRNA expression of, as was shown in mice in response to the LPS-induced pulmonary inflammation [52], while most studies demonstrated that CBD has an immunosuppressive potential by inhibiting pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-6 and IL-8 in an *in vivo* mouse colon cancer CT26 cell model [53], by reducing the protein expression of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α on microglia BV-2 cells [54], and by reducing inflammation in other models, like dinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (DNBS)-induced colitis [55], human ulcerative colitis [56] etc. Another study showed that CBD reduced the levels of TNF-a and IL-6 in murine models of chronic asthma [57]. CBD was shown to reduce the TNF- α levels in RAW264.4 macrophages, stimulated by LPS [58]. In another study, it was shown that CBD reduced IL-1 β and TNF- α levels in mitogen-activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells [59]. Another paper reported that CBD significantly reduced TNF-a, IL-6, and IL-8 in an *in vitro* model of allergic contact dermatitis [60]. Recently, it was discovered that cannabis acts on mitochondrial homeostasis to counteract inflammatory dysregulation. CBD has been shown to alleviate cerebral ischemia in rats by reducing brain oedema, blood-brain barrier permeability, infarction size, and neurological deficit. This effect was due to increased protein expression of Na^{+}/Ca^{2+} exchangers [61]. When blood flow is restored in the ischemic area, it causes inflammation and oxidative-stress-related injury in the affected area. CBD has demonstrated a neuroprotective effect in oxygen-glucose-deprivation/reperfusion in in vitro model by reducing the oxidative stress, improving mitochondrial bioenergetics and being able to modulate the glucose metabolism [62]. THC treatment of the trophoblast cell line, HTR8/SVneo, showed a reduction in mitochondrial respiratory function and membrane potential. This data suggested that THC can cause dysfunction of mitochondria [63]. When THC effect was evaluated on

mitochondria extracted from the rat brain, similar results were obtained, that is, it enhanced oxidative stress and induced mitochondrial dysfunction in the brain [64]. Another study showed that THC was able to reduce the expression of pro-inflammatory transcription factors, like TNF- α , IFN- γ on murine delayed type hypersensitivity model [65]. THC was also demonstrated to be effective in combating intestinal inflammation on in vivo colitis model [66]. A study performed on LPS-stimulated J774 macrophages showed that THC significantly inhibited the levels of IL-6, prostaglandin E2, and nitric oxide production [67]. The experimental research conducted in vivo with SIV-infected macaques that were receiving THC for the period of seventeen months demonstrated an increase in T cells, a reduction in viral load, and an increase in the expression of Th2 cytokines [68]. Another study performed with HIV patients showed a higher concentration of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in THC- positive patients versus THC-negative counterparts [69]. It was also shown that cannabis users living with HIV have lower neuroinflammation. This was confirmed by demonstrating that cannabis users had lower levels of CD16⁺ monocytes and inducible protein 10 (IP-10) compared to HIV-infected patients that were not users. These data suggested that cannabis has potent anti-inflammatory effects [70].



Figure 4. The desired effects of cannabinoids on immune cells

Terpenoids, apart from giving cannabis plant a characteristic fragrance and providing protection from insects, have been demonstrated as interesting pharmacological compounds for treating chronic inflammatory conditions, mainly by inhibiting NF- κ B transcription factor and inflammasome activation. Triptolide terpenoid has been shown to reduce inflammation by inhibiting inflammasome NLRP3-ASC assembly in cardiac fibrosis mice model [71], downregulating TLR4 and NLRP3 expression in IgA nephropathy rats [72]. Limonene was demonstrated to inhibit the production of nitric oxide, prostaglandin E2, and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 in RAW 264.7 macrophages, stimulated by LPS [73].

Beta-caryophyllene was demonstrated to suppress the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β) in peripheral blood, stimulated by LPS [74].

The research was also performed to compare the anti-inflammatory properties of terpenoids versus CBD [75]. Essential oils were prepared from three non-psychoactive cannabis chemotypes, and terpenoids profile was evaluated, and their effect on inflammation was assessed both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The *in vitro* results demonstrated that all three essential oils high in terpenoids partially inhibited the reactive oxygen species production in stimulated macrophages. However, when these oils were assessed *in vivo*, only moderate inhibition of inflammation, without an effect on TNF- α serum levels, was found. Interestingly, CBD showed prolonged immunosuppression, while terpenoids demonstrated transient immunosuppression. Such results indicate that terpenoids are more important for treatment of pathological acute inflammation rather than chronic inflammatory conditions [75].

The role of flavonoids in inflammation is still a new field of research. One research publication showed that cannflavins, isolated from *C. sativa* sprouts inhibited the production of prostaglandin E2 and 5-lipooxygenase [76]. Apigenin, another type of flavonoid found in cannabis, was shown to inhibit NLRP3 activation in THP-1 cells and reduce peritoneal infiltration of inflammatory cells in the monosodium urate-induced peritonitis mice model [77]. In addition, apigenin dietary supplementation on murine experimental colitis model was able to inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome activation by suppressing the expression of IL-1 β and IL-18, and decreased the micro-and macroscopic signs of colitis [78].

1.5 Human macrophages – an *in vitro* inflammation model

As discussed above in the section on immunity, macrophages play an important role in

innate immunity, hence, we have decided to use these cells as our experimental model. Macrophages recognize foreign substances with the help of PRRs on their surface, produce proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines, perform phagocytosis to digest and eliminate pathogens, and interact bidirectionally with adaptive immune compartment.

The suspension monocytic cell line, called THP-1, isolated from the peripheral blood of a childhood case of acute monocytic leukemia, was chosen for my study due to several reasons. Firstly, it is an immortal cell line with a high growing rate. Secondly, we had an established protocol of differentiation and inflammation induction, and when differentiated, it becomes adherent cell line, which makes it easier to work with. Thirdly, this cell line is commonly used in inflammation study and is an accurate and valid cell model for LPS response evaluation in macrophages. Lastly, it is reliable, suitable, and simplified model to study the functions of macrophages [79]. Moreover, some studies demonstrated that these cells behave as primary macrophages in view of morphology and functional properties [80], [81]. THP-1 macrophages after being stimulated with LPS, express important genes for LPS signaling, such as myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD2), CD14, a cell surface-localized glycosylphosphatidylinositolanchored monocyte differentiation antigen and others [82], [83]. Phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA), 50 ng/ml, was used for terminal differentiation of monocytes into macrophages, making them no longer proliferate after the transformation [84]. The successful transformation was assessed under the light microscope.

2. Rationale and Hypothesis

Research in our laboratory has demonstrated a potential of cannabinoids and cannabis extracts as immunomodulators [85]. It was shown that cannabis extracts are superior to CBD or THC in decreasing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in intestine, oral and lung epithelial cells, and 3D tissue models.

Here, we hypothesized that previously tested novel cannabis cultivars also exhibit immunomodulatory potential in *in vitro* inflammation model of THP-1 human macrophages.

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Main reagents

The pure cannabinoids were purchased from Sigma: $\Delta 9$ -THC (Cat#T4764), CBD (Cat#C-045). The cannabinoids were dissolved in methanol to make 1 mg/ml stock solutions and then were stored at -20°C. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from *Escherichia coli* O111:B4 was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Cat#L4391). The LPS was dissolved in sterile PBS according to the manufacturer's protocol to make 1 mg/ml stock solution. Phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate (PMA) - CAS 16561-29-8 – Calbiochem, was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Cat#524400). The DMSO (Dimethyl sulfoxide anhydrous, Life Technologies) was used to make 1 mg/ml stock solution. Trypan Blue Solution, 0.4%, was purchased from ThermoFisher Scientific (Cat#15250061).

3.2. Plant growth and extract preparation

The cannabis plants were grown in the licensed facility at the University of Lethbridge. *Cannabis sativa* cultivars #14, #131, #178 were used for the experiments. The selection of extracts was done based on internal lab data. Four plants were grown per cultivar at 22° C, 18 h light 6 h dark for 4 weeks. After this, plants were grown in the chambers with 12 h light/12 h dark regime to promote flowering. The flowers were harvested and then dried. Flowers from four plants were combined and subsequently used for the extraction. In total, three grams of powdered plant tissue per each cultivar was used for further extraction. The prepared material was placed into a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask, then 100 mL of ethyl acetate was added into each flask. The flasks were incubated overnight at 21°C on shaker at 120 rpm, covered in tin foil. The filtration of extracts was done, then they were concentrated with help of rotary vacuum evaporator and

transferred to a tared 3-dram vial. The elimination of solvent was performed by evaporating to dryness in an oven overnight at 50°C. The crude extracts (3-6 mg) were dissolved in DMSO (Dimethyl sulfoxide anhydrous, Life Technologies) to obtain 60 mg/mL concentration and were stored at -20°C. The complete culture media (RPMI + 10% FBS) was used for diluting the stock concentration of extracts to the desired concentration (7 μ g/ml). After this, the extracts were filtered with 0.22 μ m filter.

3.3. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

The levels of cannabinoids (CBD and THC) was analyzed with the help of Agilent Technologies 1200 Series HPLC system which has G1315C DAD, G1316B column compartment, autosampler (G1367D), and binary pump (G1312B). The Phenomenex Kinetex EVO C18 column with a Phenomenex SecurityGuard ULTRA guard column was used for the separation. The data acquisition, control of the instrument, and integration were performed with help of software, ChemStation LC 3D Rev B.04.02 (Agilent Technologies). For calibrating the standards and analysis of samples, the injection volume of 2 μ L was used. The detection of compound peaks was done for 230 nm and 280 nm. On the A side, the mobile phases included 50 mM ammonium formate (Sigma-Aldrich) in HPLC grade water (Fisher Chemical), and 100% methanol on the B side. The flow rate was 0.3 ml/min. Per each cultivar, two samples were analyzed, with two technical repeats for each sample.

3.4. Terpene analysis

The analysis of terpenes was done on dry flowers with help of 8610C GC coupled with a flame ionization detector (SRI Instruments at Canvas Labs, Vancouver, BC, Canada). Two

samples per cultivar were analyzed.

3.5. Cell cultures and treatments

The THP-1 cells (TIB-202), human leukemia monocytic cell line, were purchased from American Type Culture Collection ((ATCC, (Rockville, MD, USA)) and were used in this study [79]. The cell line was grown as suspension culture in 100 mm petri dish, in the Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium ((RPMI-1640 (Cat# 350-000-CL, WISENT INC., Quebec, Canada)) supplemented with a final concentration of 10% heat-inactivated Premium Grade Fetal Bovine Serum (Cat# 97068-085, VWR International LLC, Radnor, USA), according to the ATCC recommendation. The cell line was incubated in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37°C. The cells were differentiated into macrophages by administering PMA, 50 ng/ml for two days. Then, cells were incubated in fresh RPMI-1640 medium, but without PMA, for one day. The cell differentiation was verified under the light microscope by evaluating the cell adhesion and spreading [86]. Inflammation was induced by adding 0.5 μ g/ml of LPS for 3 hours (Figure 4) [87]. Cells were then harvested for the analysis.

Human Macrophages (THP-1 cells)



THP-1 cells

PMA 48hrs Fresh media



THP-1 macrophages

Cannabis extracts (7 µg/ml) 30 min prior to LPS (0.5 µg/ml) for 3 hrs

Figure 5. Schematic representation of the experimental plan. THP-1 suspension cells were terminally differentiated into THP-1 macrophages with the help of PMA (50ng/ml) for two days. Next, cells were supplemented with fresh media for one day. The successful differentiation was verified under the light microscope. Cannabis extracts (7 μ g/ml) or single cannabinoids (5 μ M) were added 30 min prior to LPS (0.5 μ g/ml).

The cells were categorized into groups:

- A. Untreated cells
- B. Vehicle
- C. Cannabis extracts (#14, #131, #178)
- D. CBD/THC
- E. LPS
- F. LPS + Cannabis extracts (#14, #131, #178)

G. LPS + CBD/THC

3.6. Cell viability assay using trypan blue

The determination of THP-1 macrophages' viability and morphology was performed by trypan blue assay. The cells were washed with PBS, then trypsinized. The fresh media was added to the trypsinized cells followed by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 5 min at 20°C. The supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended by fresh media. An aliquot of the cells was mixed with the trypan blue solution in 1:1 ratio. The cells were counted using the LUNA I, automated cell counter (Logos Biosystems). The number of viable cells was determined by trypan blue exclusion. The results were shown as a percent of viability [88],[89].

3.7. Immunoblotting

After treatments, cells from each experimental group were harvested by adding cell lysis buffer (Cell Signaling Technology), followed by sonication and centrifugation (10,000 g, 2 min). Bradford assay was used for protein concentration estimation. Approximately 50 μ g of proteins were loaded per each well for sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). The polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Amersham Hybond® P, GE Healthcare) were used for transferring the resolved proteins for 2 hrs on ice. Then membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk for 2hrs. Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight. Total NF κ B (NF κ B) expression levels were detected using 1:500 dilution of mouse monoclonal NF κ B p65 antibody (Cat#sc-8008, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Texas, United States). The phosphorylated NF κ B (p-NF κ B) expression levels were detected using 1:500 dilution of rabbit polyclonal p-NF κ B p65 antibody (Cat#sc-33039, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Texas, United States). The mouse monoclonal GAPDH antibody (Cat#sc47724, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Texas, United States) was used for detecting the expression of GAPDH. Next, membranes were washed three times in 0.1% Tween-20 in PBS (PBS-T) and incubated with secondary antibodies 1:2000 for 2hrs at room temperature. Immunoreactivity was visualized with help of FroggaBio substrate (CCH345-B). Protein expression (four independent replicates) was analyzed using ImageJ software.

3.8. Multiplex ELISA

Multiplex ELISA was done for cytokine assessment [87]. Cell culture supernatant from each experimental group was centrifuged at 3,000 x g at 4°C for 3 min prior to aliquoting to remove debris. Then, the supernatants were transferred to new tubes and stored at -70°C. The prepared samples were shipped to Eve Technologies (Calgary, Alberta, Canada) on dry ice. The cytokines levels were measured using Human Cytokine Array Pro-inflammatory Focused 13-plex (HDF13). The measurement of all samples was done at the same time upon the first thaw (Table 2). Multiplex immunoassay results were analyzed with a BioPlex 200 [90],[91]. The following cytokines were tested: TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-10, MCP-1, IL-8. It was expected cannabis extracts or cannabinoids would decrease TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-1 β , IL-8, MCP-1 but increase IL-10 [92].

Groups	Number of samples
Vehicle	4
LPS	4
Extracts 14, 131, 178 only (7µg/ml)	12
LPS + Extract 14, 131, 178 (7µg/ml)	12
CBD	4
CBD + LPS	4
ТНС	4
THC + LPS	4
Total:	48

Table 2. Summary of groups and number of samples used for Multiplex ELISA

For the simplicity of data analyses, we grouped our data into two main groups: CBD and THC groups (Table 3).

Experimental Groups			
CBD Group		THC Group	
Vehicle	LPS	Vehicle	LPS
CBD only	LPS + CBD	THC only	LPS + THC
Extract 131 only	LPS + Extract 131	Extract 14 only	LPS + Extract 14
		Extract 178 only	LPS + Extract 178

Table 3. CBD and THC groups

3.9. Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was analyzed using one way analysis of variance (ANOVA), after which Tukey post-hoc multiple comparison test was performed in GraphPad Prism 6.0 software (La Jolla, CA, USA) [93]. A p value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant [94].

4. RESULTS

4.1. Analysis of cannabinoids content using HPLC

In order to separate extracts into the categories of high CBD or high THC extracts, the cannabinoids content was analyzed by HPLC (Table 4).

Table 4. Levels and concentrations of single cannabinoids in extracts of selected C. sativa

	Total THC, %	Total CBD, %	THC (µM)	CBD (µM)
14 (high THC)	33.35	2.81	7.42	0.63
131 (high CBD)	2.11	19.65	0.47	4.37
178 (high THC)	33.98	1.01	7.56	0.22
ТНС	-	-	5	-
CBD	-	-	-	5

cultivars

Table 4 also shows the molarity of THC and CBD in each studied extract. For comparison purposes, it also shows the concentration of pure cannabinoids, THC and CBD used in our study.

The HPLC analysis revealed the cannabinoids composition of studied extracts. The results demonstrated that Extract #14 is high THC type, Extract 131 is high CBD, and Extract #178 is high THC. The total % of THC in Extract#14 was 33.35%, in Extract #178 – 33.98%, in Extract 131 - 2.11%. The total % of CBD in Extract #131 was 19.65, in Extract #14 – 2.81, in Extract #178 – 1.01%. Based on these results, the molarity of cannabinoids (THC, CBD) was calculated

in each extract. The molarity of THC in both high THC extracts, #14 and #178, was very similar, 7.42 and 7.46 μ M, respectively. The molarity of THC in extract #131 was 0.47 μ M. The molarity of CBD in high CBD extract, #131 was 4.37; the molarity of CBD in extract # 14 was 0.63 μ M, and in extract #178 was 0.22. The concentration of THC and CBD in extracts was compared to the concentration of pure cannabinoids used in this study as additional positive controls. The molarity of both pure cannabinoids (THC and CBD) used was 5 μ M.

4.2. Analysis of terpenes

In order to evaluate potential impact of terpenes on anti-inflammatory properties of extracts, terpene analysis was performed (Table 5).
Terps in mg/g	#131	#178	#14
α-Pinene	0.295	0.649	0.048
β-Pinene	0.212	0.245	0.068
β-Myrcene	ND	0.361	0.124
Limonene	0.262	0.003	0.263
Terpinolene	0.025	0.008	0.004
Linalool	0.058	0.029	0.193
α-Bisabolol	0.003	0.244	0.061
trans-Caryophyllene	0.04	0.076	0.545
α-Humulene	ND	0.04	0.136
trans-Nerolidol	ND	0.008	0.187
cis-Nerolidol	0.001	0.003	ND
Camphene	0.022	0.025	0.015
β-Ocimene	ND	0.089	ND
Fenchone isomers	ND	0.003	0.004
δ-3-Carene	0.506	0.001	ND
α-Terpinene	0.006	0.573	ND
Eucalyptol	0.002	ND	ND
γ-Terpinene	ND	0.001	ND
p-Cymene	ND	0.048	ND
Camphor isomers	ND	0.118	ND
Isopulegol	0.01	0.016	ND
Caryophyllene oxide	0.017	0.098	ND
Valencene	ND	0.01	ND
Geraniol	0.005	0.004	ND
Guaiol	0.029	0.116	ND
trans-β-Ocimene	0.016	ND	ND
a-Humulene	0.025	ND	0.136
Fenchyl Alcohol	ND	ND	0.036
Borneol isomers	ND	ND	0.012
α-Terpineol	ND	ND	0.052
Total Terpene content	1.534	2.768	1.75

 Table 5. Composition of terpene and their concentrations in each extract



Figure 6. Level of terpenes in extracts #131, #178 and #14.

The terpenes analysis revealed that Extract #14 was the highest in trans-caryophyllene, limonene, linalool, and trans-nerolidol content. Extract #131 was the most prominent in having δ -3-carene, α -pinene, limonene, and β -pinene. Extract #178 had high percentage of α -pinene, α terpinene, β -myrcene, β -pinene, and α -bisabolol. The comparison analysis demonstrated that all three studied extracts had high amount of α -pinene, β -pinene, linalool, and trans-caryophyllene. Interestingly, Extract #14 was the only one containing fenchyl alcohol, borneol isomers, and α - terpineol. Valencene, camphor isomers, p-cymene, γ -terpinene, and β -ocimene were only present in Extract #178. Extract #131 was the only one prominent in eucalyptol and trans- β -ocimene (Figure 5).

4.3 Pilot experiment for establishing the appropriate duration of LPS stimulation and finding the appropriate samples for Multiplex ELISA

For establishing the appropriate duration of LPS stimulation, we performed a Western blot analysis for the expression of NF κ B and p-NF κ B. We used two time points for LPS stimulation: 3 and 6 hrs. Our aim was to achieve the upregulation in p-NF κ B expression and downregulation of NF κ B expression to conclude that our inflammation model is working. The quantification of the p-NF κ B/NF κ B ratio showed that the desired inflammatory response was achieved at 3 hrs post-LPS stimulation (Figure 7). Based on these results, we proceeded with 3 hrs duration for LPS stimulation for our actual experiment.



Figure 7. Quantification of p-NF\kappaB/ NF\kappaB. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc multiple comparison test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

After finalizing the LPS stimulation time, we performed a pilot Multiplex ELISA experiment to find out the best type of samples for cytokine assessment. There are two possible ways to check for cytokines *in vitro*, either in the cell culture supernatant (media) or cell lysate supernatant. The pilot experiment was performed on samples with expected low cytokines levels (control) and expected high cytokines levels (LPS). We found that LPS media samples had much higher levels of cytokines in comparison to LPS cell lysate samples (Figure 8). It was concluded, that media samples are much more efficient for studying the cytokines, that is why for our actual experiment, we proceeded with cell culture supernatant samples to perform a Multiplex ELISA.



Figure 8. Comparison of the cytokines levels in cell culture supernatant (media) versus cell lysate supernatant.

4.4. Selected concentrations of *Cannabis sativa* extracts do not reduce the viability of

macrophages

Cell viability assay results



A. untreated

B. vehicle



C. CBD only



D. THC only



E. extract #14 only



F. extract #131 only



G. extract #178 only



H. LPS only



I. LPS + CBD

J. LPS + THC



K. LPS + Extract #14



L. LPS + Extract#131



M. LPS + Extract #178

Figure 9. The trypan blue cell viability assay photos were taken 3 minutes after staining with trypan blue using LUNA automated cell counter. The THP-1 macrophages from each experimental group were subjected to trypan blue assay. Approximately $1,5x10^6$ of THP-1 cells were plated in each well of the 6-well culture plate. Next, they were transformed, with help of PMA (50ng/ml) for 48 hrs as shown in the Figure 3. For treatments, 5 μ M of CBD and THC was used; in extract #14 the concentration of THC was 7.42 μ M, in extract #178 -7.56 μ M; the concentration of CBD in extract #131 was 4.37 μ M. Cannabinoids and extracts were given 30 min prior to LPS (0.5 μ g/ml). Cells were harvested 3 hrs after being treated with LPS. An aliquot of the cells was mixed with the trypan blue solution in 1:1 ratio. The cells were counted using the LUNA I, automated cell counter (Logos Biosystems) as per the manufacturer's instructions.



Figure 10. Analysis of cell viability using trypan blue assay in CBD group in THP-1 **macrophages.** Results are expressed as means ± standard deviations of each group in triplicate.



Figure 11. Analysis of cell viability using trypan blue assay in THC group in THP-1 macrophages. Results are expressed as means ± standard deviations of each group in triplicate.

The trypan blue exclusion assay did not show any reduction in cell viability among all groups, and cell morphology was not affected. This is important, because the level of inflammation can change due to the impact of active ingredients on cell viability. Since the cell viability was not compromised at studied concentrations of CBD/THC in any of the studied groups, we proceeded with Multiplex ELISA assay.

4.5. Cannabis sativa extracts attenuate TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-8, MCP-1, IL-10, and IL-6

production in LPS-stimulated THP-1 macrophages

As explained in the methods, after differentiation, macrophages were pretreated with cannabinoids or cannabis extracts, and after 30 min, LPS was added, and 3 hours later, cell supernatants were evaluated for the levels of cytokines. For simplicity and better comparison, each cytokine is explained below with respect to CBD and THC groups separately.



Figure 12. Analysis of IL-1 β cytokine. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration [pg/ml] \pm SD. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc multiple comparison test. A value of P<0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, **** p<0.0001.

In the CBD group as shown above, the LPS-treated cells showed significantly higher levels of IL-1 β release in comparison to vehicle. CBD treatment after LPS stimulation was able to reduce the levels of IL-1 β significantly in comparison to LPS group, while Extract #131 (high CBD) had no significant effect (Figure 9).

In the THC group as shown above, the LPS treatment significantly upregulated the levels of

IL-1 β as compared to the vehicle. Both extracts high in THC (#14 and #178) were very efficient in downregulating the levels of this cytokine significantly in comparison to LPS group, while THC treatment alone was not effective in reducing the IL-1 β levels.

The next studied cytokine was IL-6.



Figure 13. Analysis of IL-6 cytokine. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration $[pg/ml] \pm SD$. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc multiple comparison test. A value of P<0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, **** p<0.0001.

Concerning the levels of IL-6, LPS was able to increase it significantly in comparison to vehicle. High CBD extract #131, as well as CBD, after LPS stimulation, significantly suppressed the levels of this cytokine in comparison to LPS (Figure 10). The extracts, high in THC (#14 and #178) and pure THC, effectively inhibited IL-6 cytokine levels as compared to LPS group.

Then we studied the levels of IL-8.



Figure 14. Analysis of IL-8 cytokine. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration $[pg/ml] \pm SD$. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

The LPS was also efficient in increasing the levels of this pro-inflammatory cytokine significantly in comparison to vehicle as shown above. Pure CBD, as well as, all studied extracts, significantly reduced the levels of this cytokine after LPS stimulation in comparison to LPS only group (Figure 11). Interestingly, THC + LPS group did not affect the levels of IL-8 significantly in comparison to LPS.

Then, we examined the levels of MCP-1 cytokine.



Figure 15. Analysis of MCP-1 cytokine. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration $[pg/ml] \pm SD$. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

LPS treatment significantly elevated the levels of MCP-1 in comparison to vehicle group. The high CBD extract, #131, significantly downregulated the levels of this cytokine after LPS stimulation, while LPS + CBD group did not show any significant change as compared to the LPS group (Figure 12).

Both high THC extracts, extracts #14 and #178, significantly inhibited the levels of MCP-1 cytokine in comparison to LPS group, while THC + LPS did not affect the levels of this cytokine significantly.

Next, we studied the levels of TNF- α .



Figure 16. Analysis of TNF- α cytokine. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration [pg/ml] ± SD. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

The levels of TNF- α pro-inflammatory cytokine were significantly upregulated in LPS group in comparison to vehicle group (Figure 13). LPS + Extract #131 and LPS + CBD groups significantly downregulated the levels of this cytokine as to LPS group. LPS + THC group did not change the levels of TNF- α significantly in comparison to LPS, while both extracts high in THC, #14 and #178, significantly inhibited the levels of this cytokine after LPS stimulation.

The last cytokine we examined is IL-10, and this is the only anti-inflammatory cytokine we studied.



Figure 17. Analysis of IL-10 cytokine. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration $[pg/ml] \pm SD$. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

LPS significantly increased the levels of IL-10 cytokine in comparison to vehicle group (Figure 14). CBD and high CBD extract, #131, as well as high THC extracts, #14 and #178 after LPS stimulation significantly suppressed its levels as compared to the LPS group. In contrast, the THC after LPS stimulation did not show any significant change in comparison to LPS, although there was a tendency to an increase.

We have noted that in nearly all cases, the effect of cannabis extracts was more significant than the effect of single cannabinoids (Table 6). We have not found, however any significant difference between performance of extracts #131, #14 or #178.

	CBD	тнс	Extract 131 (high CBD)	Extract 14 (high THC)	Extract 178 (high THC)
IL-1β	\downarrow	No change	No change	\downarrow	\downarrow
TNF-α	\downarrow	No change	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
IL-6	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
MCP-1	No change	No change	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
IL-8	\downarrow	No change	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow
IL-10	\downarrow	No change	\downarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow

 Table 6. Summary of the effects of extracts versus CBD/THC on studied cytokines

4.6. High THC extracts were more efficient reducing studied cytokines production than high CBD extract in LPS-stimulated THP-1 macrophages

To find out if there is any significant difference between the performance of all studied extracts a one-way ANOVA analysis followed by Posthoc Tukey's Multiple Comparison test was performed. We found that high THC extracts (#14 and #178) were more efficient in reducing the

levels of IL-1 β after LPS stimulation as compared to LPS than high CBD extract (#131). Also, both high THC extracts (#14 and #178) were more effective in suppressing the levels of IL-6 as compared to high CBD extract (#131). There was no difference in the performance of all studied extracts with respect to IL-8 and MCP-1 levels. The most effective extract in view of inhibiting TNF- α levels was high THC extract (#14). Interestingly, the high CBD extract (#131) was the most effective in suppressing the levels of IL-10. Overall, high THC extracts performed better in view of reducing studied cytokines (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Comparison of studied cytokines between the extracts. Results are presented as mean of calculated concentration $[pg/ml] \pm SD$. Statistical analysis was performed by ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test. A value of P < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Significant differences between groups are marked with: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, **** p < 0.0001.

5. DISCUSSION

It is crucial to compare our cell model of inflammation to other models available nowadays. Cell lines, such as U937 [95], and Mono Mac 6 [96], are commonly used in inflammation research. U937 cells are monocytes derived from tissue origin of human histiocytic lymphoma. This type of cell line can also be transformed into macrophage-like phenotype and be stimulated with LPS for inflammation induction [97], [98]. However, U937 cell line in contrast to THP-1 cell line, showed a slight response to LPS by upregulating the expression of only 7 inflammatory genes out of 34 genes by real time polymerase chain reaction data, making this cell line inferior in studying LPS-response in vitro [99]. Mono Mac 6 cell line, a human monocytic line, is also a common model in biomedical research, but it was only shown to produce TNF- α , IL-1 α/β , and IL-6 upon stimulation with different inflammatory triggers, narrowing its application in the inflammation field in general [100]. Another type of cells, that can be used in inflammation is human peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) derived macrophages. These primary cells are considered superior to cell lines, as they more resemble in vivo settings and are not genetically modified. The main disadvantages of primary cells are their short lifespan and heterogenic response between donors which arises during their differentiation from progenitors [101]. A study, using a real time PCR to compare the response to LPS in THP-1 cells versus PBMC derived macrophages, revealed a close correlation in inflammatory gene expression between these two studied groups, making a THP-1 cell line a good model for studying LPS-induced changes [99]. Another possibility to study the inflammatory response in vitro, is by using primary macrophages from mouse bone marrow, because they represent a homogeneous and nontransformed population of macrophages [102]. The only disadvantage is that those macrophages are not from human origin, making it difficult for translating their results into clinical trials [103].

The immunomodulatory effects of cannabis are well documented [104], [105], [106]. Nowadays, there are many well-known cannabis cultivars, and each one has a unique composition of different compounds [107], [108]. Many studies have demonstrated the effects of single cannabinoids, such as THC and CBD, on inflammation [109]. Other components of the plant (such as minor cannabinoids, terpenes, terpenoids, flavonoids, and others) may act synergistically with cannabinoids and can be useful from a therapeutic point of view [110]. The modulating effect of these compounds is known as "an entourage effect"; such modulation is typically positive which means that the medicinal effect of the whole plant extract is more significant than the effect of isolated compounds [111], [19]. Like with any other drug, the effects significantly depend on the concentration. This study showed that *Cannabis sativa* extracts are very potent anti-inflammatory compounds by reducing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1β, TNF-a, MCP-1, IL-8, IL-6) in LPS-stimulated THP-1 macrophages. The production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by macrophages that have been exposed to LPS is well established, and the concentration of LPS used also corresponds to other similar studies [112], [113], [114]. IL-1 β is the most prominent pro-inflammatory cytokine which plays a crucial role in inflammasome signaling [115]. IL-6, a pro-inflammatory cytokine, also plays an important role in the inflammatory response of many chronic inflammatory conditions [116]. TNF- α cytokine stimulates inflammation and is one of the most studied and most important pro-inflammatory cytokines [117]. IL-8 and MCP-1 induce chemotaxis of granulocytes to the site of infection and stimulate phagocytosis [7], [118]. Our cannabis extracts significantly downregulated the levels of all these cytokines. The results of this study were similar to other studies, where it was shown that cannabinoids and cannabis extracts efficiently inhibit inflammation by suppressing the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines. For example, cannabis users that suffered from multiple sclerosis had significantly lower levels of many pro-inflammatory cytokines, like TNF-α, IL-1, IL-6, IL-

12, IFN- γ , while higher levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, in comparison to noncannabis users [119]. Another study reported that cannabis extract high in CBD was superior to pure CBD in reducing the IL-6 and IL-8 levels effectively in an alveolar epithelial cell line, A549, while cannabis extract high in THC on the same cell line showed only minor antiinflammatory activity and was more cytotoxic. In this study, the concentration of extracts was 5 µg/mL, while in our study, it was 7 µg/mL [120]. In a 3D EpiDermFT tissue inflammation model, it was shown that the extracts high in CBD and THC were effective in reducing the expression of IL-6, IL-1 β , MCP-1, and TNF- α [121]. Another study demonstrated that cannabis extract high in CBD was more effective than pure CBD in zymosan-induced inflammation mice model. The extract effectively reduced pain and paw swelling, prevented TNF- α production, and overcame the bell-shaped dose response of CBD [122]. High CBD and high THC extracts were shown to be superior over the pure CBD and THC in reducing inflammation in graft versus host disease in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation model in view of reducing the severity of disease and improving survival rate [123].

The cannabis extracts and cannabinoids in this study were given 30 min prior to LPS stimulation, which corresponds to other studies performed in a similar field of research [124], [114]. The reason for this is that cannabinoid receptor activation includes three waves, with the first two being receptor binding and receptor internalization, and they take approximately 20 min which is sufficient to trigger all the molecular responses [125]. The trypan blue data confirmed that the canabis extracts used in our study were not cytotoxic and did not change cells' morphology.

The data we obtained on IL-1 β levels was quite interesting. This was the only cytokine that decreased in response to CBD more efficiently than in response to the high CBD extract or

THC/high THC extracts. It remains to be shown whether this is a specific reaction to our extracts or the nature of the reaction of this cytokine to cannabinoids.

Another interesting result was the effect of cannabinoids on IL-10 levels. Many in vivo and in vitro studies demonstrated that cannabinoids and cannabis extracts enhance the levels of antiinflammatory cytokines. For example, on murine model of bone marrow transplantation, it was demonstrated that pure THC and CBD, as well as cannabis extracts high in CBD and THC, reduced inflammation, by reducing IL-17 secretion and enhancing IL-10 secretion [123]. Another study performed on mouse primary bone marrow-derived macrophages stimulated by LPS showed that flavonoids, luteolin and quercetin, increased the levels of IL-10 secretion [102]. Next, it was also shown that THC reduced inflammation on endotoxemic mice model by significantly upregulating the plasma level of anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, while suppressing the pro-inflammatory cytokine, MCP-1 [126]. Along this line, it was reported that CBD and THC suppressed the secretion of IL-17 but elevated the secretion of IL-10 by mousederived encephalitogenic T cell line [127]. CBD was reported to significantly reduce the plasma levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN- γ , TNF- α), along with the levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, IL-4) on diabetic mice model [128]. In our study we found, that LPS stimulation causes significant increase in IL-10 levels, while cannabis extracts, as well as pure cannabidiol given before LPS stimulation reduce its levels. This results correspond to some studies reported in the literature. For instance, it was reported that CBD suppressed levels of IL-10 in LPS-stimulated macrophages, obtained either from naive animals or from treated animals [129]. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine, which protects cells against profound inflammation. CBD and THC were shown to inhibit the levels of IL-10 in HUT-78 T cells [130]. Some studies reported the similar effect of LPS on IL-10. LPS was demonstrated to increase levels of IL-10 on Raw 264.7 murine macrophages *in vitro* [131] and murine bone-marrowderived macrophages [132].

Since LPS was used to induce the inflammatory response, it was expected that it would also induce anti-inflammatory cytokines to counteract high levles of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which is required for cell survival. For effective clearance of pathogens, the pro-inflammatory response is crucial, while excessive inflammatory response causes tissue damage. Hence, human body always maintains equilibrium by activating counteractive pathways to bring down proinflammatory response. Since levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were elevated by LPS in our study, we observed the corresponding increase in the IL-10 levels in LPS group to counteract the pro-inflammatory cytokine storm. Similarly, our extracts and CBD were able to significantly downregulate the levels of several pro-inflammatory cytokines and hence, they did reduce the levels of IL-10, again, to maintain the equilibrium. On the other hand, THC was not able to reduce the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and hence, did not change the high levels of IL-10 after LPS stimulation. It is also possible that cannabis extracts inhibit all cytokines, regardless of their nature.

6. Limitations and future studies

We focused on the anti-inflammatory effects of cannabis extracts using the THP-1 macrophages model. Specifically, we analyzed the effects of the extracts of selected novel cannabis cultivars on the secretion of cytokines in LPS-induced macrophages. We found that studied cannabis extracts significantly reduced the levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and were not cytotoxic to macrophages. While these studies will lay a foundation for the future analysis of anti-inflammatory potential of cannabis extracts, they are not without limitations.

The biggest limitation of this study is that it was not performed *in vivo*, since the effects in *in vivo*, where all cells and tissues communicate with each other and contribute to inflammation, are more clinically relevant. The other potential concern is the very type of cells used in this study. The THP-1 cells are not primary cells and hence may behave differently than freshly isolated primary monocytes/macrophages. The primary human monocytes isolated from bone marrow of healthy donors or primary macrophages from mouse bone marrow are likely much more suitable alternatives to such inflammation studies. However, these *ex vivo* cells are much more difficult to work with and need highly specialized media to culture. In the future, the validation of our results should be performed on some of above-mentioned freshly isolated monocytic cells.

The next limiting aspect of this study is the use of PMA, which may be considered as not physiological. The better option to be tried in the future is interferon-gamma with LPS stimulation to achieve M1 polarization. Stimulation with PMA and LPS is very stressful to the cells, and allows for much stronger induction of inflammation, thus allowing to observe a more prominent effect of extracts. It remains to be shown whether milder induction with LPS (lower concentrations) or with other compounds would also to see the effect of extracts. Milder stimulation with LPS can be considered for future studies to try to simulate more physiological response *in vitro*. When we use very strong stimulation, we could miss many subtle things, like some extracts might be more immunomodulatory rather than extremely immunosuppressive.

The other limitation of this study is that we have not analyzed the CB1/CB2 receptor expression. Low expression of CB1/CB2 oin this model may explain why CBD and THC alone were not very efficient in decreasing the expression of cytokines. It would also be interesting to study the CB1/CB2 expression profile in response to LPS.

Also, in our work, we have pretreated cells with extracts before treating with LPS. This approach mimics the situation where cannabis users have lower levels of cytokines. It would be more natural to treat cells with extracts after the induction of inflammation, since, in general, there is a need to treat inflammation rather than to prevent it. We may also want to compare the effect of extracts to well-known anti-inflammatory agents such as dexamethasone.

Another limiting aspect is that so far, we performed only one technical replicate, but we are currently working on performing one more technical replicate for the publication purpose.

For better understanding of our results, it would be very beneficial to look at key transcription factors and target genes by performing RNA sequencing, transcriptome profiling, followed by the analyses of relevant protein expression. The most important consideration in future is to perform this study *in vivo* and to confirm the immunomodulatory activity of our extracts. In conclusion, our data show strong potential for tested cannabis extracts as anti-inflammatory agents for various chronic inflammatory conditions.

In the future, with more research being done, we might gain more insight into the potential immunomodulatory or even immunostimulatory effects of individual cannabinoids or cannabis extracts. This knowledge can help medical professionals to integrate cannabis extracts into different medical fields, potentially as adjunct therapy.

References

- [1] L. B. Nicholson, "The immune system," *Essays Biochem.*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 275–301, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1042/EBC20160017.
- M. Wieczorek *et al.*, "Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and MHC class II proteins: Conformational plasticity in antigen presentation," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 8, no. MAR. Frontiers Research Foundation, p. 1, Mar. 17, 2017, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00292.
- [3] C. D. Mills, K. Kincaid, J. M. Alt, M. J. Heilman, and A. M. Hill, "M-1/M-2 Macrophages and the Th1/Th2 Paradigm," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 164, no. 12, pp. 6166–6173, 2000, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.12.6166.
- [4] A. Berger, "Science commentary: Th1 and Th2 responses: What are they?," *British Medical Journal*, vol. 321, no. 7258. BMJ Publishing Group, p. 424, Aug. 12, 2000, doi: 10.1136/bmj.321.7258.424.
- [5] N. Parameswaran and S. Patial, "Tumor necrosis factor-a signaling in macrophages," *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, vol. 20, no. 2. Begell House Inc., pp. 87– 103, 2010, doi: 10.1615/CritRevEukarGeneExpr.v20.i2.10.
- [6] G. Lopez-Castejon and D. Brough, "Understanding the mechanism of IL-1β secretion," *Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews*, vol. 22, no. 4. Elsevier, pp. 189–195, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.10.001.
- [7] M. R. Benakanakere, L. S. Finoti, U. Tanaka, G. R. Grant, R. M. Scarel-Caminaga, and D. F. Kinane, "Investigation of the functional role of human Interleukin-8 gene haplotypes by CRISPR/Cas9 mediated genome editing," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–11, Aug. 2016, doi: 10.1038/srep31180.
- [8] S. L. Deshmane, S. Kremlev, S. Amini, and B. E. Sawaya, "Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): An overview," *Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research*, vol. 29, no. 6. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc., pp. 313–325, Jun. 01, 2009, doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0027.
- [9] T. Tanaka, M. Narazaki, and T. Kishimoto, "II-6 in inflammation, Immunity, And disease," *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 16295–16296, Oct. 2014, doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a016295.

- [10] L. Sun, C. He, L. Nair, J. Yeung, and C. E. Egwuagu, "Interleukin 12 (IL-12) family cytokines: Role in immune pathogenesis and treatment of CNS autoimmune disease," *Cytokine*, vol. 75, no. 2. Academic Press, pp. 249–255, Oct. 01, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.01.030.
- [11] O. Boyman and J. Sprent, "The role of interleukin-2 during homeostasis and activation of the immune system," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 12, no. 3. Nature Publishing Group, pp. 180–190, Mar. 17, 2012, doi: 10.1038/nri3156.
- [12] F. Castro, A. P. Cardoso, R. M. Gonçalves, K. Serre, and M. J. Oliveira, "Interferongamma at the crossroads of tumor immune surveillance or evasion," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 9, no. MAY. Frontiers Media S.A., p. 1, May 04, 2018, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847.
- [13] S. S. Iyer and G. Cheng, "Role of interleukin 10 transcriptional regulation in inflammation and autoimmune disease," *Crit. Rev. Immunol.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 23–63, 2012, doi: 10.1615/critrevimmunol.v32.i1.30.
- [14] I. S. Junttila, "Tuning the cytokine responses: An update on interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 receptor complexes," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 9, no. JUN. Frontiers Media S.A., p. 888, Jun. 07, 2018, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00888.
- [15] K. Takatsu, "Interleukin-5 and IL-5 receptor in health and diseases," *Proceedings of the Japan Academy Series B: Physical and Biological Sciences*, vol. 87, no. 8. The Japan Academy, pp. 463–485, 2011, doi: 10.2183/pjab.87.463.
- [16] M. Morikawa, R. Derynck, and K. Miyazono, "TGF- β and the TGF-β family: Contextdependent roles in cell and tissue physiology," *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, vol. 8, no. 5. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, p. a021873, May 01, 2016, doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a021873.
- [17] S. F. Li *et al.*, "Type i interferons: Distinct biological activities and current applications for viral infection," *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, vol. 51, no. 5. S. Karger AG, pp. 2377–2396, Dec. 01, 2018, doi: 10.1159/000495897.
- [18] L. Cristino, T. Bisogno, and V. Di Marzo, "Cannabinoids and the expanded endocannabinoid system in neurological disorders," *Nature Reviews Neurology*, vol. 16, no. 1. Nature Research, pp. 9–29, Jan. 01, 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0284-z.
- [19] E. B. Russo, "The case for the entourage effect and conventional breeding of clinical

cannabis: No 'Strain,' no gain," *Front. Plant Sci.*, vol. 9, no. January, pp. 1–8, 2019, doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.01969.

- [20] C. Laezza *et al.*, "The endocannabinoid system: A target for cancer treatment," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 1–20, 2020, doi: 10.3390/ijms21030747.
- [21] V. Chiurchiù, "Endocannabinoids and Immunity," *Cannabis Cannabinoid Res.*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 59–66, 2016, doi: 10.1089/can.2016.0002.
- [22] O. Takeuchi and S. Akira, "Pattern Recognition Receptors and Inflammation," *Cell*, vol. 140, no. 6, pp. 805–820, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.022.
- [23] L. Chen *et al.*, "Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs," *Oncotarget*, vol. 9, no. 6. Impact Journals LLC, pp. 7204–7218, 2018, doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.23208.
- [24] K. Taniguchi and M. Karin, "NF-B, inflammation, immunity and cancer: Coming of age," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 18, no. 5. Nature Publishing Group, pp. 309–324, May 01, 2018, doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.142.
- [25] A. Salas *et al.*, "JAK–STAT pathway targeting for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease," *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, vol. 17, no. 6. Nature Research, pp. 323–337, Jun. 01, 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-0273-0.
- [26] B. Kaminska, "MAPK signalling pathways as molecular targets for anti-inflammatory therapy-from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic benefits," 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2005.08.017.
- [27] L. Chen *et al.*, "Oncotarget 7204 www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs," 2018. [Online]. Available: www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget/.
- [28] E. Kozela, M. Pietr, A. Juknat, N. Rimmerman, R. Levy, and Z. Vogel, "Cannabinoids Δ9tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol differentially inhibit the lipopolysaccharideactivated NF-κB and interferon-β/STAT proinflammatory pathways in BV-2 microglial cells," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 285, no. 3, pp. 1616–1626, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1074/JBC.M109.069294.
- [29] G.-E. Blank et al., "Trafficking of CB2 Receptor in Mast Cells Tolerance to

Lipopolysaccharide and Dependent – TLR4 Receptor Induces 2-AG," 2019, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800997.

- [30] J. Stephenson, E. Nutma, P. van der Valk, and S. Amor, "Inflammation in CNS neurodegenerative diseases," *Immunology*, vol. 154, no. 2. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, pp. 204–219, Jun. 01, 2018, doi: 10.1111/imm.12922.
- [31] D. A. Zisman, M. P. Keane, J. A. Belperio, R. M. Strieter, and J. P. Lynch, "Pulmonary fibrosis.," *Methods in molecular medicine*, vol. 117. Nature Publishing Group, pp. 3–44, 2005, doi: 10.1385/1-59259-940-0:003.
- [32] H. Qureshi, A. Sharafkhaneh, and N. A. Hanania, "Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: Latest evidence and clinical implications," *Therapeutic Advances in Chronic Disease*, vol. 5, no. 5. SAGE Publications, pp. 212–227, 2014, doi: 10.1177/2040622314532862.
- [33] S. Naehrig, C. M. Chao, and L. Naehrlich, "Cystic fibrosis Diagnosis and treatment," *Dtsch. Arztebl. Int.*, vol. 114, no. 33–34, pp. 564–573, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2017.0564.
- [34] J. R. Murdoch and C. M. Lloyd, "Chronic inflammation and asthma," *Mutation Research Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, vol. 690, no. 1–2. Elsevier, pp. 24–39, Aug. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2009.09.005.
- [35] K. Mc Namara, H. Alzubaidi, and J. K. Jackson, "Cardiovascular disease as a leading cause of death: how are pharmacists getting involved?," *Integr. Pharm. Res. Pract.*, vol. Volume 8, pp. 1–11, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.2147/iprp.s133088.
- [36] M. Bäck, A. Yurdagul, I. Tabas, K. Öörni, and P. T. Kovanen, "Inflammation and its resolution in atherosclerosis: mediators and therapeutic opportunities," *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, vol. 16, no. 7. Nature Publishing Group, pp. 389–406, Jul. 01, 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0169-2.
- [37] S. H. Lee, J. eun Kwon, and M. La Cho, "Immunological pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease," *Intestinal Research*, vol. 16, no. 1. Korean Association for the Study of Intestinal Diseases, pp. 26–42, 2018, doi: 10.5217/ir.2018.16.1.26.
- [38] M. Y. Donath and S. E. Shoelson, "Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease," *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 11, no. 2. Nat Rev Immunol, pp. 98–107, Feb. 2011, doi: 10.1038/nri2925.

- [39] J. A. Del Campo, P. Gallego, and L. Grande, "Role of inflammatory response in liver diseases: Therapeutic strategies," *World Journal of Hepatology*, vol. 10, no. 1. Baishideng Publishing Group Co, pp. 1–7, Jan. 27, 2018, doi: 10.4254/wjh.v10.i1.1.
- [40] S. V. Suryavanshi, I. Kovalchuk, and O. Kovalchuk, "Cannabinoids as Key Regulators of Inflammasome Signaling: A Current Perspective," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 11. Frontiers Media S.A., Jan. 28, 2021, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.613613.
- [41] R. B. Zurier and S. H. Burstein, "Cannabinoids, inflammation, and fibrosis," *FASEB Journal*, vol. 30, no. 11. FASEB, pp. 3682–3689, Nov. 01, 2016, doi: 10.1096/fj.201600646R.
- [42] V. Katchan, P. David, and Y. Shoenfeld, "Cannabinoids and autoimmune diseases: A systematic review," *Autoimmunity Reviews*, vol. 15, no. 6. Elsevier B.V., pp. 513–528, Jun. 01, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.02.008.
- [43] P. Nagarkatti, R. Pandey, S. A. Rieder, V. L. Hegde, and M. Nagarkatti, "Cannabinoids as novel anti-inflammatory drugs," *Future Medicinal Chemistry*, vol. 1, no. 7. NIH Public Access, pp. 1333–1349, Oct. 2009, doi: 10.4155/fmc.09.93.
- [44] E. B. Russo, "Cannabinoids in the management of difficult to treat pain," *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, vol. 4, no. 1. Dove Press, pp. 245–259, 2008, doi: 10.2147/tcrm.s1928.
- [45] R. B. Zurier and S. H. Burstein, "Cannabinoids, inflammation, and fibrosis," *FASEB J.*, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 3682–3689, 2016, doi: 10.1096/fj.201600646R.
- [46] R. Tanasescu and C. S. Constantinescu, "Cannabinoids and the immune system: An overview," *Immunobiology*, vol. 215, no. 8, pp. 588–597, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2009.12.005.
- [47] V. L. Hegde, U. P. Singh, P. S. Nagarkatti, and M. Nagarkatti, "Critical Role of Mast Cells and Peroxisome Proliferator–Activated Receptor γ in the Induction of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells by Marijuana Cannabidiol In Vivo," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 194, no. 11, pp. 5211–5222, 2015, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401844.
- [48] V. L. Hegde, M. Nagarkatti, and P. S. Nagarkatti, "Cannabinoid receptor activation leads to massive mobilization of myeloid-derived suppressor cells with potent immunosuppressive properties," doi: 10.1002/eji.201040667.

- [49] T. K. Eisenstein and J. J. Meissler, "Effects of Cannabinoids on T-cell Function and Resistance to Infection," *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, vol. 10, no. 2. Springer New York LLC, pp. 204–216, Jun. 17, 2015, doi: 10.1007/s11481-015-9603-3.
- [50] A. Oláh, Z. Szekanecz, and T. Bíró, "Targeting cannabinoid signaling in the immune system: 'High'-ly exciting questions, possibilities, and challenges," *Frontiers in Immunology*, vol. 8, no. NOV. Frontiers Media S.A., p. 1, Nov. 10, 2017, doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01487.
- [51] S. A. Rieder, A. Chauhan, U. Singh, M. Nagarkatti, and P. Nagarkatti, "Cannabinoidinduced apoptosis in immune cells as a pathway to immunosuppression," *Immunobiology*, vol. 215, no. 8. NIH Public Access, pp. 598–605, Aug. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2009.04.001.
- [52] P. W. F. Karmaus, J. G. Wagner, J. R. Harkema, N. E. Kaminski, and B. L. F. Kaplan, "Cannabidiol (CBD) enhances lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced pulmonary inflammation in C57BL/6 mice," *J. Immunotoxicol.*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 321–328, 2013, doi: 10.3109/1547691X.2012.741628.
- [53] M. Honarmand, F. Namazi, A. Mohammadi, and S. Nazifi, "Can cannabidiol inhibit angiogenesis in colon cancer?," *Comp. Clin. Path.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 165–172, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s00580-018-2810-6.
- [54] A. Juknat *et al.*, "Microarray and Pathway Analysis Reveal Distinct Mechanisms Underlying Cannabinoid-Mediated Modulation of LPS-Induced Activation of BV-2 Microglial Cells," *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 4, p. 61462, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061462.
- [55] F. Borrelli *et al.*, "Cannabidiol, a safe and non-psychotropic ingredient of the marijuana plant Cannabis sativa, is protective in a murine model of colitis," doi: 10.1007/s00109-009-0512-x.
- [56] D. de Filippis *et al.*, "Cannabidiol reduces intestinal inflammation through the control of neuroimmune axis," *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 12, p. 28159, Dec. 2011, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0028159.
- [57] F. Vuolo *et al.*, "Evaluation of Serum Cytokines Levels and the Role of Cannabidiol Treatment in Animal Model of Asthma," *Mediators Inflamm.*, vol. 2015, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/538670.

- [58] S. Ben-Shabat, L. O. Hanuš, G. Katzavian, and R. Gallily, "New Cannabidiol Derivatives: Synthesis, Binding to Cannabinoid Receptor, and Evaluation of Their Antiinflammatory Activity," 2006, doi: 10.1021/jm050709m.
- [59] B. Watzl, P. Scuderi, and R. R. Watson, "Marijuana components stimulate human peripheral blood mononuclear cell secretion of interferon-gamma and suppress interleukin-1 alpha in vitro," *Int. J. Immunopharmacol.*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 1091–1097, Jan. 1991, doi: 10.1016/0192-0561(91)90160-9.
- [60] S. Petrosino, R. Verde, M. Vaia, M. Allarà, T. Iuvone, and V. Di Marzo, "Antiinflammatory Properties of Cannabidiol, a Nonpsychotropic Cannabinoid, in Experimental Allergic Contact Dermatitis," *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, vol. 365, pp. 652–663, 2018, doi: 10.1124/jpet.117.244368.
- [61] S. Khaksar and M. R. Bigdeli, "Anti-excitotoxic effects of cannabidiol are partly mediated by enhancement of NCX2 and NCX3 expression in animal model of cerebral ischemia," *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 794, pp. 270–279, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.11.011.
- [62] S. Sun, F. Hu, J. Wu, and S. Zhang, "Cannabidiol attenuates OGD/R-induced damage by enhancing mitochondrial bioenergetics and modulating glucose metabolism via pentosephosphate pathway in hippocampal neurons," *Redox Biol.*, vol. 11, pp. 577–585, Apr. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2016.12.029.
- [63] O. L. S. Walker, H. Gurm, R. Sharma, N. Verma, L. L. May, and S. Raha, "Delta-9tetrahydrocannabinol inhibits invasion of HTR8/SVneo human extravillous trophoblast cells and negatively impacts mitochondrial function," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 4029, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-83563-9.
- [64] V. Wolff *et al.*, "Tetrahydrocannabinol induces brain mitochondrial respiratory Chain dysfunction and increases oxidative stress: A potential mechanism involved in cannabis-related stroke," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2015, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/323706.
- [65] J. M. Sido, A. R. Jackson, P. S. Nagarkatti, and M. Nagarkatti, "Marijuana-derived Δ-9tetrahydrocannabinol suppresses Th1/Th17 cell-mediated delayed-type hypersensitivity through microRNA regulation," *J. Mol. Med.*, vol. 94, no. 9, pp. 1039–1051, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1007/s00109-016-1404-5.
- [66] J. M. Jamontt, A. Molleman, R. G. Pertwee, and M. E. Parsons, "The effects of Δ 9tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol alone and in combination on damage, inflammation and in vitro motility disturbances in rat colitis," *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, vol. 160, no. 3, pp. 712–723, Jun. 2010, doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00791.x.

- [67] Y. H. Chang, S. T. Lee, and W. W. Lin, "Effects of cannabinoids on LPS-stimulated inflammatory mediator release from macrophages: Involvement of eicosanoids," *J. Cell. Biochem.*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 715–723, Jan. 2001, doi: 10.1002/jcb.1103.
- [68] P. E. Molina *et al.*, "Modulation of Gut-specific mechanisms by chronic Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol administration in male rhesus macaques infected with simian immunodeficiency virus: A systems biology analysis," *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses*, vol. 30, no. 6, pp. 567–578, 2014, doi: 10.1089/aid.2013.0182.
- [69] A. Abbate *et al.*, "HHS Public Access," pp. 112–115, 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.11.018.Confirmed.
- [70] M. D. Rizzo *et al.*, "HIV-infected cannabis users have lower circulating CD16+ monocytes and IFN-γ-inducible protein 10 levels compared with nonusing HIV patients," *AIDS*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 419–429, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000001704.
- [71] X. C. Pan *et al.*, "Dual role of triptolide in interrupting the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway to attenuate cardiac fibrosis," *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, vol. 20, no. 2, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.3390/ijms20020360.
- [72] L. He *et al.*, "Anti-inflammatory effects of triptolide on IgA nephropathy in rats," *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 421–427, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.3109/08923973.2015.1080265.
- [73] W.-J. Yoon, N. H. Lee, and C.-G. Hyun, "Limonene Suppresses Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Production of Nitric Oxide, Prostaglandin E 2, and Pro-infl ammatory Cytokines in RAW 264.7 Macrophages," 2010. Accessed: Jun. 08, 2021. [Online]. Available: http://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/browse/jos/.
- [74] J. Gertsch *et al.*, "Beta-caryophyllene is a dietary cannabinoid," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 105, no. 26, pp. 9099–9104, Jul. 2008, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803601105.
- [75] R. Gallily, Z. Yekhtin, and L. O. Hanuš, "The Anti-Inflammatory Properties of Terpenoids from Cannabis," *Cannabis Cannabinoid Res.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 282–290, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1089/can.2018.0014.
- [76] O. Werz *et al.*, "Cannflavins from hemp sprouts, a novel cannabinoid-free hemp food product, target microsomal prostaglandin E 2 synthase-1 and 5-lipoxygenase," *PharmaNutrition*, vol. 2, pp. 53–60, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.phanu.2014.05.001.

- [77] H. Lim, D. S. Min, H. Park, and H. P. Kim, "Flavonoids interfere with NLRP3 inflammasome activation," 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2018.06.022.
- [78] Y. K. Márquez-Flores, I. Villegas, A. Cárdeno, M. Ángeles Rosillo, and C. Alarcón-De-La-Lastra, "Apigenin supplementation protects the development of dextran sulfate sodiuminduced murine experimental colitis by inhibiting canonical and non-canonical inflammasome signaling pathways ☆," 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.12.002.
- [79] W. Chanput, J. J. Mes, and H. J. Wichers, "THP-1 cell line: An in vitro cell model for immune modulation approach," *International Immunopharmacology*, vol. 23, no. 1. Elsevier, pp. 37–45, Nov. 01, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2014.08.002.
- [80] H. Sakamoto *et al.*, "Biomechanical Strain Induces Class A Scavenger Receptor Expression in Human Monocyte/Macrophages and THP-1 Cells A Potential Mechanism of Increased Atherosclerosis in Hypertension," 2001. [Online]. Available: http://www.circulationaha.org.
- [81] Z. Qin, "The use of THP-1 cells as a model for mimicking the function and regulation of monocytes and macrophages in the vasculature," *Atherosclerosis*, vol. 221, no. 1. Elsevier, pp. 2–11, Mar. 01, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.09.003.
- [82] G. Jimenez-Duran *et al.*, "Pharmacological validation of targets regulating CD14 during macrophage differentiation," *EBioMedicine*, vol. 61, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.103039.
- [83] H. Bosshart and M. Heinzelmann, "THP-1 cells as a model for human monocytes," Annals of Translational Medicine, vol. 4, no. 21. AME Publishing Company, Nov. 01, 2016, doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.08.53.
- [84] E. K. Park, H. S. Jung, H. I. Yang, M. C. Yoo, C. Kim, and K. S. Kim, "Infl ammation Research Optimized THP-1 differentiation is required for the detection of responses to weak stimuli," *Infl amm. res*, vol. 56, pp. 45–50, 2007, doi: 10.1007/s00011-007-6115-5.
- [85] A. Kovalchuk *et al.*, "Fighting the Storm: Could Novel Anti-Tnfá And Anti-II-6 C. Sativa Cultivars Tame Cytokine Storm in COVID-19?," *Aging (Albany. NY).*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 1571–1590, Jan. 2021, doi: 10.18632/aging.202500.
- [86] F. Gatto *et al.*, "PMA-induced THP-1 macrophage differentiation is not impaired by citrate-coated platinum nanoparticles," *Nanomaterials*, vol. 7, no. 10, p. 155, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.3390/nano7100332.

- [87] X. Liu *et al.*, "LPS-induced proinflammatory cytokine expression in human airway epithelial cells and macrophages via NF-κB, STAT3 or AP-1 activation," *Mol. Med. Rep.*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 5484–5491, 2018, doi: 10.3892/mmr.2018.8542.
- [88] T. Hayashi, A. Catanzaro, and S. P. Rao, "Apoptosis of Human Monocytes and Macrophages by Mycobacterium avium Sonicate," 1997.
- [89] K. C. Noh *et al.*, "Leukocyte-poor platelet-rich plasma-derived growth factors enhance human fibroblast proliferation in vitro," *CiOS Clin. Orthop. Surg.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 240–247, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.4055/cios.2018.10.2.240.
- [90] J. Quach, F. Moreau, C. Sandall, and K. Chadee, "Entamoeba histolytica-induced IL-1β secretion is dependent on caspase-4 and gasdermin D," *Mucosal Immunol.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 323–339, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.1038/s41385-018-0101-9.
- [91] C. Lucas *et al.*, "Longitudinal analyses reveal immunological misfiring in severe COVID-19," *Nature*, vol. 584, no. 7821, pp. 463–469, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2588-y.
- [92] R. J. Schutte, A. Parisi-Amon, and W. M. Reichert, "Cytokine profiling using monocytes/macrophages cultured on common biomaterials with a range of surface chemistries," *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part A*, vol. 88, no. 1, pp. 128–139, Jan. 2009, doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.31863.
- [93] A. Juknat, F. Gao, G. Coppola, Z. Vogel, and E. Kozela, "miRNA expression profiles and molecular networks in resting and LPS-activated BV-2 microglia—Effect of cannabinoids," *PLoS One*, vol. 14, no. 2, p. e0212039, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212039.
- [94] C. Andrade, "The P value and statistical significance: Misunderstandings, explanations, challenges, and alternatives," *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, vol. 41, no. 3. Wolters Kluwer Medknow Publications, pp. 210–215, May 01, 2019, doi: 10.4103/IJPSYM_IJPSYM_193_19.
- [95] H. Harikrishnan, I. Jantan, M. A. Haque, and E. Kumolosasi, "Anti-inflammatory effects of Phyllanthus amarus Schum. & amp; Thonn. through inhibition of NF-κB, MAPK, and PI3K-Akt signaling pathways in LPS-induced human macrophages," *BMC Complement. Altern. Med.*, vol. 18, no. 1, p. 224, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1186/s12906-018-2289-3.
- [96] Q. Kong et al., "Phosphate groups of lipid a are essential for Salmonella enterica serovar
typhimurium virulence and affect innate and adaptive immunity," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 80, no. 9, pp. 3215–3224, 2012, doi: 10.1128/IAI.00123-12.

- [97] W. Yao, L. Yang, F. Dai, L. Tang, and Y. Le, "Macrophage differentiation induced by PMA is mediated by activation of RhoA/ROCK signaling."
- [98] C. F. A. Vogel *et al.*, "Activation of inflammatory responses in human U937 macrophages by particulate matter collected from dairy farms: an in vitro expression analysis of pro-inflammatory markers," 2012. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-11-17.
- [99] O. Sharif, V. N. Bolshakov, S. Raines, P. Newham, and N. D. Perkins, "Transcriptional profiling of the LPS induced NF-κB response in macrophages," 2007, doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-8-1.
- [100] P. Neustock, J. M. Brand, A. Kruse, and H. Kirchner, "Cytokine production of the human monocytic cell line Mono Mac 6 in comparison to mature monocytes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells," *Immunobiology*, vol. 188, no. 3, pp. 293–302, Jul. 1993, doi: 10.1016/S0171-2985(11)80237-8.
- [101] D. A. Hume Underhill, B. J. Wainwright, A. Aderem, S. Timothy Ravasi, C. Wells, and A. Forest, "Probability of Individual Inducible Genes from Gene-Autonomous Transcriptional System: Macrophage Heterogeneity Arises Generation of Diversity in the Innate Immune," *J Immunol Ref.*, vol. 168, pp. 44–50, 2021, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.44.
- [102] M. Nica Comalada *et al.*, "Inhibition of pro-inflammatory markers in primary bone marrow-derived mouse macrophages by naturally occurring flavonoids: Analysis of the structure-activity relationship," doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2006.07.016.
- [103] P. J. Murray and T. A. Wynn, "Obstacles and opportunities for understanding macrophage polarization," *J. Leukoc. Biol*, vol. 89, pp. 557–563, 2011, doi: 10.1189/jlb.0710409.
- [104] J. Killestein *et al.*, "Immunomodulatory effects of orally administered cannabinoids in multiple sclerosis," *J. Neuroimmunol.*, vol. 137, no. 1–2, pp. 140–143, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(03)00045-6.
- [105] A. Zgair *et al.*, "Oral administration of cannabis with lipids leads to high levels of cannabinoids in the intestinal lymphatic system and prominent immunomodulation," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–12, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-15026-z.

- [106] S. Rom and Y. Persidsky, "Cannabinoid receptor 2: Potential role in immunomodulation and neuroinflammation," *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, vol. 8, no. 3. NIH Public Access, pp. 608–620, Jun. 2013, doi: 10.1007/s11481-013-9445-9.
- [107] J. K. Booth and J. Bohlmann, "Terpenes in Cannabis sativa From plant genome to humans," *Plant Science*, vol. 284. Elsevier Ireland Ltd, pp. 67–72, Jul. 01, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2019.03.022.
- [108] D. Jin, K. Dai, Z. Xie, and J. Chen, "Secondary Metabolites Profiled in Cannabis Inflorescences, Leaves, Stem Barks, and Roots for Medicinal Purposes," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–14, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-60172-6.
- [109] O. Kovalchuk and I. Kovalchuk, "Cannabinoids as anticancer therapeutic agents," *Cell Cycle*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 961–989, 2020, doi: 10.1080/15384101.2020.1742952.
- [110] R. Gallily, Z. Yekhtin, and L. Ondřej Hanuš, "Overcoming the Bell-Shaped Dose-Response of Cannabidiol by Using Cannabis Extract Enriched in Cannabidiol," *Pharmacol. Pharm.*, vol. 6, pp. 75–85, 2015, doi: 10.4236/pp.2015.62010.
- [111] S. G. Ferber *et al.*, "The 'Entourage Effect': Terpenes Coupled with Cannabinoids for the Treatment of Mood Disorders and Anxiety Disorders," *Curr. Neuropharmacol.*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 87–96, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.2174/1570159x17666190903103923.
- [112] D. M. Mosser and X. Zhang, "Activation of murine macrophages," *Current Protocols in Immunology*, vol. CHAPTER, no. SUPPL. 83. NIH Public Access, p. Unit, 2008, doi: 10.1002/0471142735.im1402s83.
- [113] M. Zou, L. Xi, J. Rao, Y. Jing, F. Liao, and X. Yang, "[Optimization and evaluation of an inflammatory cell model in LPS-stimulated PMA-differentiated THP-1 cells].," *Xi Bao Yu Fen Zi Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 1456–1461, Nov. 2017, Accessed: Jun. 08, 2021. [Online]. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29268846.
- [114] L. Yang *et al.*, "Oleoylethanolamide exerts anti-inflammatory effects on LPS-induced THP-1 cells by enhancing PPARα signaling and inhibiting the NF-κB and ERK1/2/AP-1/STAT3 pathways," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 6, Oct. 2016, doi: 10.1038/srep34611.
- [115] F. Martin-Sanchez *et al.*, "Inflammasome-dependent IL-1β release depends upon membrane permeabilisation," *Cell Death Differ.*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 1219–1231, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1038/cdd.2015.176.

- [116] C. Gabay, "Interleukin-6 and chronic inflammation," *Arthritis Res. Ther.*, vol. 8, no. SUPPL. 2, p. S3, Jul. 2006, doi: 10.1186/ar1917.
- [117] H. Zelová and J. Hošek, "TNF-α signalling and inflammation: Interactions between old acquaintances," *Inflammation Research*, vol. 62, no. 7. pp. 641–651, Jul. 2013, doi: 10.1007/s00011-013-0633-0.
- [118] C. Viedt *et al.*, "MCP-1 Induces Inflammatory Activation of Human Tubular Epithelial Cells: Involvement of the Transcription Factors, Nuclear Factor-B and Activating Protein-1," 2002, doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000015609.31253.7F.
- [119] W. Mustafa, N. Elgendy, S. Salama, M. Jawad, and K. Eltoukhy, "The Effect of Cannabis on the Clinical and Cytokine Profiles in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis," *Mult. Scler. Int.*, vol. 2021, pp. 1–10, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1155/2021/6611897.
- [120] S. M. Anil *et al.*, "Cannabis compounds exhibit anti-inflammatory activity in vitro in COVID-19-related inflammation in lung epithelial cells and pro-inflammatory activity in macrophages," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 1462, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-81049-2.
- [121] A. Kovalchuk *et al.*, "Fighting the storm: novel anti- TNFα and anti-IL-6 C. sativa lines to tame cytokine storm in COVID-19," pp. 1–18, 2020, doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-30927/v1.
- [122] R. Gallily, Z. Yekhtin, and L. Ondřej Hanuš, "Overcoming the Bell-Shaped Dose-Response of Cannabidiol by Using Cannabis Extract Enriched in Cannabidiol," *Pharmacol. Pharm.*, vol. 6, pp. 75–85, 2015, doi: 10.4236/pp.2015.62010.
- [123] I. Khuja, Z. Yekhtin, R. Or, and O. Almogi-Hazan, "Cannabinoids Reduce Inflammation but Inhibit Lymphocyte Recovery in Murine Models of Bone Marrow Transplantation," *Int. J. Mol. Sci. Artic.*, doi: 10.3390/ijms20030668.
- [124] J. C. Williams, T. W. Klein, B. A. Goldberger, J. W. Sleasman, N. Mackman, and M. M. Goodenow, "Δ9-Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) enhances lipopolysaccharide-stimulated tissue factor in human monocytes and monocyte-derived microvesicles," *J. Inflamm. (United Kingdom)*, vol. 12, no. 1, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1186/s12950-015-0084-1.
- [125] C. Nogueras-Ortiz and G. A. Yudowski, "The multiple waves of cannabinoid 1 receptor signaling," *Molecular Pharmacology*, vol. 90, no. 5. American Society for Pharmacology and Experimental Therapy, pp. 620–626, Nov. 01, 2016, doi: 10.1124/mol.116.104539.

- [126] J. Joffre *et al.*, "Activation of CB 1 R Promotes Lipopolysaccharide-Induced IL-10 Secretion by Monocytic Myeloid-Derived Suppressive Cells and Reduces Acute Inflammation and Organ Injury," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 204, no. 12, pp. 3339–3350, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.2000213.
- [127] E. Kozela, A. Juknat, M. Health, N. Kaushansky, and N. Rimmerman, "Cannabinoids Decrease the Th17 Inflammatory Autoimmune Phenotype Mechanisms of Anti-depressive Treatments View project Cell death induced by delta-aminolevulinic acid in astrocytes View project," *Artic. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.*, 2013, doi: 10.1007/s11481-013-9493-1.
- [128] L. Weiss *et al.*, "Cannabidiol lowers incidence of diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice," *Autoimmunity*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 143–151, Mar. 2006, doi: 10.1080/08916930500356674.
- [129] P. Sacerdote *et al.*, "The nonpsychoactive component of marijuana cannabidiol modulates chemotaxis and IL-10 and IL-12 production of murine macrophages both in vivo and in vitro," *J. Neuroimmunol.*, vol. 159, no. 1–2, pp. 97–105, Feb. 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2004.10.003.
- [130] M. D. Srivastava, B. I. S. Srivastava, and B. Brouhard, "Δ9 Tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol alter cytokine production by human immune cells," *Immunopharmacology*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 179–185, Nov. 1998, doi: 10.1016/S0162-3109(98)00041-1.
- [131] R. A. Pengal, L. P. Ganesan, G. Wei, H. Fang, M. C. Ostrowski, and S. Tridandapani, "Lipopolysaccharide-induced production of interleukin-10 is promoted by the serine/threonine kinase Akt," *Mol. Immunol.*, vol. 43, no. 10, pp. 1557–1564, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2005.09.022.
- [132] J. S. Gerber and D. M. Mosser, "Receptors γ Ligating the Macrophage Fc Reversing Lipopolysaccharide Toxicity by," *J Immunol Ref.*, vol. 166, pp. 6861–6868, 2021, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6861.